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THE DIXWELL AVENUE CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH
1829 to 1896

By KURT SCHMOKE T

If one had to choose the single subject in the history of black Americans
which has received exhaustive study, his best choice would probably be the
black church. Such noted scholars as Carter G. Woodson, E. Franklin Frazier,
W.E.B. DuBois, and others have presented us with a plethora of material con-
cerning, historically, the most important institution of Afro-Americans. The
reasons for the great emphasis placed on the church are clear. First of all, as
Frazier has pointed out, the experiences of the middle passage and the slavery
system in this country resulted in the loss of the social cohesion which prevail-
ed in the native communities in Africa and which was not allowed to be re-
vived in America.! One of the great achievements of the black church was that
it provided the basis for a new social cohesion by taking the lead in the de-
velopment of a well organized societal sub-structure, separate from and not
conflicting with white society. The church in the nineteenth century was also,
except for a brief period following the Civil War, the only area in which blacks
could participate in significant political activity. Selecting convention dele-
gates, bishops, or trustees was just as important to blacks as any national
election was to whites, for although their lives were circumscribed by the
“peculiar system”, blacks took tremendous pride in those institutions which

t Kurt Schmoke is a native of Baltimore, Maryland and a Senior history
major at Yale University. He is presently Secretary of his class and has
received a Rhodes Scholarship study at Oxford.
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were granted them. A third reason for stressing the role of black religious
institutions was that for many years the church played a centra] educationa]
role in the community. Whites in all areas of the country were reluctant to gJ-
low blacks to secure a decent education; therefore, the church had to assume
the responsibility for the mental well being, as well as the spiritual needs of
its constituents. Finally, the church served as a refuge from a hostile world.
In times of great persecution the masses would turn to their church, which
usually helped to ease the pain and suffering by providing blacks with the
opiate of an other-world theology.

These are but a few of the factors which demonstrate the significance of
the Negro church of the 19th century to the black population. However, as in
other phases of Afro-American history, there existed much diversity in the
form and the style of churches throughout the country. The greater portion of
the black population was proselytized by the Methodists and the Baptists.
Worship services carried on by these two denominations were not as formal
and ritualistic as other faiths, and this had great appeal to the blacks who, for
the most part, were poor and illiterate. Also, the ministers used by the Meth-
odists and the Baptists were usually not as highly educated as those employed
by the Presbyterians, the Episcopalians, or the Congregationalists; therefore,
their level of communication was more easily understood by the blacks. But
the most significant factor in determining the form of religion which blacks
would follow was the will of the whites in control. In the South, whites allow-
ed the Negro church to develop along the lines which we have just described.
However, in the North the issue of black religion became a more complicated
problem. The history of the organization and development of the Dixwell
Avenue Congregational Church in New Haven is illustrative of the attempt
of Northern whites to deal with black religion, and, probably more signifi-
cant, the attempt of blacks in general to deal with Northern whites. Before
directly discussing the founding of the Dixwell Avenue Congregational
Church, we must first review the important political and social events in New

Haven and Connecticut which created the atmosphere conducive to the es-
tablishment of an all-black church.

By 1817 the Toleration party, a conglomeration of religious dissenters
consisting of Episcopalians, Baptists, Methodists, and some liberal Congre-
gationalists had consolidated their strength sufficiently to begin an attack on
the special privileges enjoyed by the old established church, the Congrega-
tionalist.> Their struggle was waged in the state legislature, and in Septem-
ber, 1818 they achieved victory. At this time Connecticut adopted a new and
more democratic constitution. The citizens of New Haven voted their approv-
al of the new constitution by a plurality of two to one.3 With the abolition of
the privileged status of the Congregational Church, there began a prolifera-
tion of religious groups in New Haven. The New Haven Register in taking
inventory of the city’s churches in 1829 listed nine churches under operation
and one in the process of construction: *“3 Congregational, 1 College Chapel
(Congregational), 1 Episcopal Church, 1 Methodist Church, 1 Baptist, 1 Afri-
can Church, and 1 Seamen’s Bethel.” The African Church which they listed
was the Temple Street’church, later to be known as the Dixwell Avenue Con-
gregational Church.

i i imply as, Tem-
*Temple Street Congregational Church will be referred to simp 7
ple Street. This was the name most commonly used by the people in the
community.
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The founding father and the guiding light of the Temple Street church was
Simeon S. Jocelyn, a Congregationalist and a member of the Center Church.
Jocelyn was an artisan by trade. He and his brother, Nathaniel, were part-
ners in an engraving business, but Simeon had long concerned himself with
the problems of others. Some time before 1820 Jocelyn began aiding the cause
of black religion by holding private services with blacks in his home. In 1824,
along with certain prominent black community leaders such as Prince Duplex,
Scipio Augustus, William Lanson, and Bias Stanley, Simeon Jocelyn founded
the African Ecclesiastical Society.5 In the same year he was able to purchase
a building on Temple Street between George and Crown which became the
permanent meeting place for the new society. From a small handful of men
the society grew, and by the end of one year, there were 100 members in the
congregation. When questioned about his reasons for engaging in such an
endeavor, Jocelyn responded, “The colored population was then nearly Seven
Hundred souls; many of them living in the neglect of public worship, and a
large number were ignorant and vicious. There were, however, a goodly num-
ber who longed for the moral and religious improvement of their brethren.”¢
Jocelyn was ready and willing to work for the improvement of the status of
the disadvantaged in this instance and throughout his life, for as Professor
Gilbert Barnes has written, Jocelyn was “a lovable, young idealist” whose
Christian benevolence knew no bounds.?

From 1824 to 1829 the African Ecclesiastical Society operated as a separate
congregation without formal ties to an overarching structure, except for the
fact that its pastor, Simeon Jocelyn, was a member of Center Congregational
Church. During this time, however, Jocelyn had petitioned the state Congre-
gational association to recognize the Temple Street congregation as an offi-
cial member of that organization; Jocelyn was able to see the tremendous
benefits which the small church could gain from being a part of a large and
wealthy organization. On August 25, 1829, Jocelyn finally got his wish when
the Western Association of New Haven County formally recognized the
“United African Society” as a Congregational church.® Reverend Amos Be-
man, a later pastor of Temple Street Church, said that at the church’s found-
ing the members “were poor in pecuniary senses, but they were rich in faith,
rich in love and rich in activity.” Once Jocelyn secured for them member-
ship in the state Congregational association, the Temple Street Church gain-
ed a degree of “pecuniary” security which allowed them to energetically use
the faith, love, and activity for which they were already plentifully endowed.

To aid him in the struggle to keep the church going in its first few years of
existence, Jocelyn enlisted the help of two prominent members of the New
Haven community, Reverend Leonard Bacon and Theodore Dwight Woolsey.
These two men had founded the African Improvement Association in 1830 to
aid the activities of citizens engaged in benevolent enterprises which bene-
fited the black community. Woolsey became president of Yale in 1846 and
served in that capacity until 1871.1° Even before achieving this honor, he was
an influential person in New Haven society. Reverend Bacon was installed
as the pastor of North Church in 1825, serving as the spiritual leader of that
congregation for fifty-seven years. Bacon had long been associated with or-
ganizations espousing the cause of freedom for blacks. While still in seminary
he wrote a very complimentary report for the Society of Inquiry for Missions
entitled, “On the Black Population of the United States.” Later he delivered
a_powerful speech in Boston called, “Plea for Africa” in which he reiterated
his stand for the abolition of slavery.!! Although he gave the Temple Street

[3]



VOLUME TWENTY, NUMBER ONE

Church much aid in order to ensure its survival, Bacon in later years became
persona non grata in the black community because of his support of the Amer-
ican Colonization Society.

The aid which whites gave in establishing the Temple Street Church has
been noted, yet had it not been for the perseverance and religious convictions
of a small group of blacks, the project would never have achieved the success
which it did. It is probable that a church for Afro-Americans would have been
established eventually, but this would have had to wait until the majority of
the whites found it to their interest to have separate congregations. The
twenty-five who were the original members of Temple Street caused a radical
change in the land of steady habits, and made a significant contribution to
the history of the New Haven black community. The original membership
consisted of four men and twenty-one women: Mr. Nicholas Cisco, Mr. Bias
Stanley, Mr. John Williams, Mr. Robert M. Park, Mrs. Dorcas Lanson, Mrs.
Adeline Cooper, Mrs. Margaret Johnson, Miss Clarinda Brown, Miss Lucy
Griffin, Miss Louisa Phillips, Mrs. Theodocia Diggins, Miss Dianthy Whit-
more, Miss Ellen Thompson, Miss Luzetta Lewis, Miss Catharine Freeman,
Mrs. Catharine Wilson, Mrs. Sylva Dowry, Miss Charlotte Asher, Miss Flora
Chatfield and Miss Eliza Freeman.!2

-' Temple Street Cbngregalional Church, c. 1860.

When Simeon Jocelyn said that he was establishing a church for those
blacks who desired “moral and religious improvement”, he did not delude
himself by believing that his service would be in demand through the entire
black community. Reverend Beman later noted that during the planning
stages of the congregation, and even into the first few years of its organiza-
tion, there was widespread indifference shown toward Temple Street by New
Haven blacks. It must also be pointed out that, for the most part, the white
community was disinterested in the project. Although these attitudes were
prevalent, Reverend Beman was adamant in claiming that blacks in New Ha-
ven were much in need of their own church. The condition of the community
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